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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR SOUTH DAKOTA
NORTHERN DIVISION

HORVATH TOWERS VI, LLC
a Delaware Limited Liability Company,
Plaintiff, CIVIL ACTION FILE NO. 24-cv-10008
V.
CLARK COUNTY BOARD OF REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED REVIEW
ADJUSTMENT, SOUTH DAKOTA PURSUANT TO 47 U.S.C. §8332(c)(7)(B)(v)
Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER THE U.S.
TELECOMMUNICTIONS ACT OF 1996

Plaintiff, Horvath Towers VI, LLC (“Horvath”), by and through their undersigned
attorneys, hereby files this Complaint against Defendant Board of Adjustment for the County of
Clark, South Dakota (the “BOA” or “County”), and states as follows:

Nature of the Action

This action arises out of the BOA’s unlawful denial of Horvath’s application to construct
a wireless telecommunications facility for Verizon Wireless (“Verizon™) on a tract of land located
at 42429 182" Street in unincorporated Clark County, South Dakota (the “Hanson location”),
which property is currently zoned AG in the County. On February 20. 2024, the BOA denied an
application request by Plaintiff for a conditional use to build the facility, which denial is not in
writing supported by substantial evidence contained in a written record. Moreover, the denial
effectively prohibits the provision of personal wireless service in the vicinity of the proposed

facility.  Accordingly, the County’s denial of Horvath’s application violates the federal
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Telecommunications Act of 1996, as amended, 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7) (the “TCA” or “Act”), and
Plaintiff is entitled to an order directing the County to grant Horvath’s application for the proposed
facility.

Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 8§ 332(c)(7)(B)(v), Plaintiff requests expedited treatment of this
Complaint.

Parties, Jurisdiction, and Venue

1. Plaintiff Horvath is a Delaware Limited Liability Company and maintains its
principal place of business at 720 Main Street, Suite 200, Saint Paul, Minnesota.

2. Defendant is a political subdivision of the State of South Dakota and is subject to
the jurisdiction of this Court.

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331
and 47 U.S.C. 8§ 332(c)(7) because of the existence of federal questions arising under the
Communications Act of 1934, as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996. The Court
has authority to issue declaratory judgment relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a).

4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (2) in that
Defendant is located in this judicial district, the proposed wireless communications facility would
be located in this judicial district, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to
this action occurred in this judicial district.

Statement of Facts

Federal Statutory Control of Wireless Siting

5. In 1996, Congress enacted the Act, No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56 (1996), which
amended the Communications Act of 1934, codified in 47 U.S.C. 8151 et seq. as a

"pro-competitive, de-regulatory national policy framework designed to accelerate rapidly
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private sector deployment of advanced telecommunications and information technologies and
services to all Americans."

6. Congress has declared that there is a need for wireless communication services,
including "personal wireless services,” as set forth in the Act, and the rules, regulations and
orders of the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") promulgated pursuant thereto.
In order to foster its pro-competitive, deregulatory national policy, Congress included
provisions in the Act that encourage competition by restricting the regulation of the placement
of personal wireless service facilities by state and local governments and instrumentalities
thereof.

7. Section 332(c)(7) of the Act imposes substantive and procedural limitations on
state and local governments and instrumentalities thereof to ensure that the Act's pro-
competitive goals are not frustrated and it expressly preempts any action or inaction by state or
local governments or their agents that effectively prohibits the provision of wireless services.

8. Pursuant to 8332(c)(7)(B)(i)(Il) of the Communications Act, the regulation of the
placement, construction, and modification of personal wireless service facilities by a local
government shall not prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the provision of personal wireless
services (“Prohibition of Services”).

9. Pursuant to 8332(c)(7)(B)(iii) of the Communications Act, any denial by a local
government of a request to place, construct or modify personal wireless service facilities must be
in writing and supported by substantial evidence in a written record (“Substantial Evidence”).

10. Pursuant to §8332(c)(7)(B)(iv) of the Communications Act, no local government

may regulate the placement and construction of personal wireless service facilities on the basis of
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environmental effects of radio frequency emissions to the extent such facilities comply with FCC
regulations concerning such emissions.

11.  The Communications Act further provides that any person adversely affected by a
state or local government’s act, or failure to act, that is inconsistent with § 332(c)(7) of the
Communications Act may, within 30 days of said act or failure to act, seek review in the federal
courts, and that the courts shall hear and decide the action on an expedited basis. 47 U.S.C. §
332(c)(7)(B)(v).

The Wireless Communications Service Industry and Technology

12. Horvath develops, owns, and leases wireless communications facilities in South
Dakota and elsewnhere in the country. Horvath leases space on its facilities to national and regional
wireless carriers such as Verizon who provide personal and advanced wireless services, as well as
other telecommunications services, as those terms are defined under federal law, to end-user
wireless consumers. In providing this service to wireless carriers, Horvath is facilitating the
development and deployment of advanced wireless and broadband connectivity consistent with
the goals of the Communications Act.

13.  Verizon provides commercial mobile radio services, personal and advanced
wireless services, and other telecommunications services, as those terms are defined under federal
law, in the State of South Dakota, including in the County of Clark.

14.  Verizon is seeking to facilitate the maintenance and development of a wireless
telecommunications network in keeping with the goals of the Communications Act. Verizon uses
licenses issued by the FCC pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 8§ 151 to provide wireless service in and around

Clark County, South Dakota.
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15. Section 151 of the Communications Act establishes a national policy to “make
available, so far as possible, to all people of the United States, without discrimination . . . a rapid,
efficient, nationwide, and world-wide wire and radio communication service with adequate
facilities at reasonable charges, for the purpose of national defense, [and] for the purpose of
promoting safety of life and property through the use of wire and radio communications.” 47
U.S.C. §151.

16.  To meet these policy goals, Verizon seeks to provide myriad wireless services to
local businesses, public safety entities and the general public.

17. Wireless service is vitally important to public safety and convenience. The FCC
estimates that approximately 240 million calls to 911 are made each year, and in many areas, over
80% of these calls are made from wireless phones.

18.  Wireless devices utilizing digital technology operate by transmitting a radio signal
to antennas mounted on a tower, pole, building or other structure. The antenna feeds the signal to
electronic equipment housed in the small shelter building or equipment cabinet, which is called a
base station. The base station is connected by microwave, fiber-optic cable or ordinary telephone
wire to a base station controller, subsequently routing calls and data throughout the world.

19.  Previously, signals were provided by analog carriers using lower frequencies and
thus higher signal strength. More modern providers, such as Verizon, operate on the higher
Personal Communications Service (“PCS”) and Advanced Wireless Services (“AWS”)
frequencies. With the ever-increasing usage of smart-phones, tablets and mobile hotspots, and as
more and more consumers abandon the use of land-lines, wireless communication facilities are
becoming overloaded with network traffic — both voice and data — resulting in a reduced effective

communications range between handheld wireless devices and a given facility.
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20. Moreover, the last 35 years has seen an explosion in cell phone users. Per wireless
industry publications by the FCC, the total number of cell phone subscribers in 1985 in the United
States was approximately 340,000. By 2005, total subscribers had jumped to over 200 million.
Current subscribers for the U.S. are over 400 hundred million.

21.  Toadvance the national policies enumerated under 47 U.S.C. § 151 and repeatedly
reiterated by the FCC, Horvath constructs towers and other wireless facilities that allow wireless
carriers to create and maintain a network of “cell sites,” each of which consists of antennas and
related electronic communications equipment designed to send and receive radio signals.

22.  To provide reliable service to a user, coverage from cell sites must overlap in a grid
pattern resembling a honeycomb. If Horvath is unable to construct a cell site within a specific
geographic area, the wireless carriers it serves, such as Verizon, will not be able to provide service
to the consumers within that area.

23. To determine where a new wireless facility is required, radio frequency (“RF”)
engineers use various techniques, such as sophisticated computer programs and field testing, to
complete a propagation study, which shows where cell sites need to be located in order to provide
service. The propagation study also takes into account the topography of the land, the coverage
boundaries of neighboring cell sites, and other factors. For a wireless network to perform, cell
sites must be located, constructed and operated so that reliable service can be achieved. If there is
no functioning cell site within a given area, or if the cell sites around an area lack sufficient capacity
to handle the amount of customer demand for limited wireless spectrum, there will be no reliable
service for customers within that area, and customers who live or travel in the area will experience
an unacceptable level of dropped calls and call connection failures. Although 911 emergency calls

are given priority in the call system, they too will be dropped or blocked if there is no coverage.
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The Proposed Facility & Application Process

24, Based upon research and analysis by RF engineers, Verizon determined that it has
a gap in its ability to provide reliable service in the County of Clark, South Dakota. This gap was
both a gap in coverage, and based on a lack of capacity for the area.

25.  This gap has been deemed significant and is a priority for Verizon based on the
demand for service and the traffic in the area, and must be remedied in order for Verizon to provide
reliable service to the targeted area.

26.  Verizon’s RF engineers targeted an area of need within which a wireless
communications facility would be required to remedy Verizon’s gap in service, and provided this
information to Horvath to conduct a search for a site.

27.  Verizon’s engineers ruled out any type of “small cell,” as small cells are used to
complement an existing robust macrosystem, not serve as a substitute for one.

28.  Although Verizon also prefers to find existing structures to use or collocate to keep
costs down and avoid more towers, it could not find any existing facility to replace, or find any
existing buildings or base stations which were tall enough to enable sufficient coverage for the
gap. Similarly, it could find no existing towers on which to collocate in the target area.

29.  Horvath’s real estate search team then investigated suitable properties in the
vicinity of the targeted area that were appropriate for a new wireless communications facility. An
appropriate candidate would have to (1) fill the gap in service, (2) have the potential to comply
with the local zoning requirements, or have exceptions therefrom approved by the County, (3) be
leasable, (4) be buildable (meaning the property is physically suitable for construction); and (5) be
accessible for maintenance and monitoring. A property that does not meet each of those

requirements is not a viable candidate.
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30. From its analysis, Horvath identified a tract of land known as the Hanson Location.
Verizon’s engineers concluded that, with a 300-foot guyed tower, this location would address the
coverage gap for the search area. Moreover the Hanson Location has a property owner willing to
enter into a long-term lease for a portion of land for the construction of a wireless communications
facility on commercially reasonable terms; and is physically suitable for constructing and
maintaining a wireless communications facility, being close to an arterial road.

31.  Alternative properties in the search area either did not have a willing landlord, or
were insufficient to address the coverage gap for the area.

32.  The Hanson location is located in the target area and addresses the coverage gap in
the area.

33. Section 4.22.02 of the Clark County Zoning Code (“Code”) governs the County’s
regulation of wireless communication services in the County.

34. Pursuant to the Code, on November 3, 2023, Horvath submitted its application for
conditional use as well as other required documentation to the County to build a 300 foot guyed
tower, along with related cabinets and a backup generator on the ground. After discussion with the
County Zoning Administrator, Horvath submitted a few additional documents requested by the
County. A copy of all of these initial submissions made by Horvath are attached hereto as group
Exhibit A.

35.  Per the County’s zoning administrator, the application and submissions of Horvath
met all conditions under the Code for installing a wireless communications facility and no
variances were required.

The Board of Adjustment Hearings
36. On December 19, 2023, a public hearing was held before the BOA to consider

Horvath’s application. At this meeting, the BOA’s Staff (“Staff”) presented its own report
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regarding the applicant’s request. The report noted each of the Code’s requirements for a
Telecommunications Tower and that the Plaintiff was meeting all of the standards necessary for a
Conditional Use permit. See Staff Report to BOA attached hereto as Exhibit B.

37. At the December 19, 2023 hearing, Plaintiff’s representative presented the merits
of its application, including, but not limited to, evidence regarding the specific need presented by
Verizon’s RF engineering team; the current coverage gap and the coverage that would be achieved
after installation of the new facility; and the fact that Horvath had investigated and found no
suitable collocation opportunities within the search ring area.

38.  Per the minutes of the public hearing, eight residents spoke in opposition to the
proposal at the hearing. Most questioned the location of the facility. Some speculated that their
property values would suffer as a result of the tower but provided no data in support. Others had
“concerns with possible health issues” from the tower’s emissions. See page 1514 of the minutes
of the public hearing attached hereto as Exhibit C.

39.  After hearing the comments from the public, the BOA had a discussion amongst
themselves. The Board members asked Plaintiff’s representative if there was a possibility to move
the cell tower further away from the residents’ homes. Discussion was had whether another
property further south of the proposed location (the “Warkenthien Property”), would work for
Plaintiff.

40.  The Plaintiff’s representative indicated that he would find out and report back to
the Board. As a result, the BOA voted to postpone their decision until February 20, 2024.

41. Subsequent to the public hearing, Verizon’s engineers analyzed the Warkenthien

Property as an alternative location for the wireless facility.
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42. However, that analysis concluded that a coverage gap would still remain if the
facility were able to be relocated to the Warkenthien Property.*

43.  Prior to the February 20, 2024 BOA meeting, Plaintiff submitted propagation maps
to the BOA showing a gap still existing if the facility were to be relocated to the Warkenthien
Property. A copy of the propagation maps, depicting the current coverage and projected coverage
from a new tower on the Hanson Location or one on the Warkenthien Property, are attached hereto
as Exhibit D.

44, In addition, Plaintiff also submitted additional documents to the BOA staff
demonstrating its due diligence on the site, including compliance with the FAA, as well as the
National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) and a Phase One environmental assessment report.

45. At the February 20, 2024 meeting, the BOA staff reiterated that the standards for
a Conditional Use had been met.

46. At the February 20, 2024 meeting, several representatives of Plaintiff answered
questions by the Board members and informed the members that Verizon had analyzed the
Warkenthien Property as an alternative location, but that this alternative location would not solve
the coverage gap that currently exists.

47. Notwithstanding this, the BOA denied the Plaintiff’s application by a 3-2 vote.

48.  Although the denial occurred on February 20. 2024, the minutes of that meeting
were adopted on March 5, 2024, but not posted online by the County until March 15, 2024. A copy
of the minutes of the February 20, 2024 meeting are attached hereto as Exhibit E.

49. At no time since the vote has the BOA provided Plaintiff with written notice of its

decision supported by substantial evidence in a written record.

L At no time has the owner of the Warkenthien Property agreed to allow a facility on its property.

10
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50.  Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 8 332(c)(7)(B)(v), this Complaint has been timely filed

within thirty (30) days of the final decision of the BOA to deny the Plaintiff’s application.
COUNT 1
(Violation of 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(iii) — Substantial Evidence)

51.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and re-alleges the foregoing factual allegations
in paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein.

52. Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(ii1), “[a]ny decision by a State or local
government or instrumentality thereof to deny a request to place, construct, or modify personal
wireless service facilities shall be in writing and supported by substantial evidence contained in a
written record.”

53.  The inquiry to be made by this Court is whether the BOA’s decision is authorized
by applicable local regulations and supported by “substantial evidence.” A denial based on a
finding that is not authorized or required by applicable local law cannot be supported by substantial
evidence.

54.  Plaintiff presented evidence that Verizon has a gap in service and that no other
alternative location is available in the search area to address the coverage gap.

55.  Plaintiff presented evidence that the Wireless Facility justifies all standards needed
for a Conditional Use Permit.

56.  There is no substantial evidence in the written record contradicting Plaintiff’s
evidence.

57. Moreover, to the extent the BOA considered comments at the public hearing
relating to the health effects of the proposed facility, the BOA was prohibited from doing so

pursuant to §332(c)(7)(B)(iv) of the Act.

11
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58.  The BOA'’s denial of the application for the proposed facility was not timely
provided in writing by the BOA and is not supported by substantial evidence contained in the
written record.

59.  Consequently, the BOA’s action is in violation of, and preempted by, Section
332(c)(7)(B)(iii) of the Communications Act, and should be set aside and enjoined by the Court
on that basis. Further, this Court should exercise its power to issue an order directing the BOA to
approve the application for the proposed facility.

COUNT 11
(Violation of 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(Il) — Effective Prohibition)

60.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and re-alleges the foregoing factual allegations
in paragraphs 1 through 50 as if fully set forth herein.

61. Pursuant to the Act, “[t]he regulation of the placement, construction, and
modification of personal wireless service facilities by any State or local government or
instrumentality thereof . . . shall not prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the provision of
personal wireless services.” 47 U.S.C. 8 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(I1).

62.  On September 26, 2018, the FCC issued a declaratory ruling that interpreted the
“effective prohibition” language of Section 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(II).2

63.  The FCC 2018 Order limited the factors and issues that may be considered by the
BOA in evaluating the placement of the proposed wireless communication facility.

64.  The FCC declared that the standards adopted by the Circuit Courts and other courts

applying Section 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(1I) were incorrect. FCC 2018 Order, {40 n.94. Instead, the FCC

2 In the Matter of Accelerating Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure
Investment; Accelerating Wireline Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment,
WT 17-29, WC 17-84, FCC 18-133, 33 FCC Red. 9,088, Sept. 26, 2018. ("FCC 2018 Order"). The FCC2018
Order became effective as of January 14, 2019.

12
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declared that “an effective prohibition [of service] occurs where a state or local legal requirement
materially inhibits a provider’s ability to engage in any of a variety of activities related to its
provision of a covered service.” Id. | 37 (emphasis added).

65.  The FCC 2018 Order holds that the County effectively prohibits the provision of
wireless services if it inhibits or limits the provider “not only when filling a coverage gap but also
when densifying a wireless network, introducing new services or otherwise improving service
capabilities.” 1d. 37 (emphasis added).

66. In its 2018 Order, the FCC also ruled that local governments cannot deny an
application for a wireless site based on the alleged existence of alternative locations. 1d. { 34-35.

67.  The FCC 2018 Order is currently in effect, and it governs Plaintiff’s claim under
47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(II).

68. Under the FCC 2018 Order, Verizon has identified an area in which it needs to
install a wireless facility to provide coverage, network capacity, and ultimately provide service.

69.  Verizon requested that Horvath find a property in that area and construct a
communications tower that will meet Verizon’s needs.

70.  The BOA'’s denial of the application for Conditional Use Permit materially inhibits
or limits Horvath’s ability to install the proposed Wireless Facility, and thus materially inhibits or
limits Verizon’s ability to provide its service at levels it deems appropriate.

71.  Accordingly, the BOA’s denial amounts to an effective prohibition of personal
wireless services in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(I1).

72. Plaintiff investigated alternative sites in and around the search area within which
Verizon determined that a significant gap exists and that a wireless communications facility must

be located to remedy the significant gap in reliable service for the wireless carrier.

13
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73. No potential alternative site is available and feasible to remedy Verizon’s service
gap in a way that is less intrusive on the values the BOA’s denial sought to serve than is the
Wireless Facility at the Hanson Location.

74.  There is no existing structure in or near the vicinity of the Hanson Location, or the
targeted area, that is both reasonably available and technologically feasible to remedy the
significant gaps in personal wireless service in the area.

75.  The BOA'’s denial of Plaintiff’s application causes an effective prohibition of
personal wireless service in the area surrounding the Proposed Wireless Facility at the Hanson
Location.

76.  Consequently, the BOA’s denial of Plaintiff’s application for a Conditional Use is
in violation of, and preempted by, Section 332(c)(7)(b)(i)(1l) of the Communications Act, and
should be set aside and enjoined by the Court on that basis.

WHEREFORE, HORVATH respectfully requests that the Court:

€)) Conduct an expedited review of the matters set forth in this Complaint
pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(v);

(b) Find and declare that the BOA’s denial of the request for a Conditional Use
was not supported by substantial evidence contained in a written record in
violation of 47 U.S.C. 8332(c)(7)(B)(iii);

(©) Find and declare that the BOA’s denial of the request for a Conditional Use
is an effective prohibition of personal wireless services in violation of 47
U.S.C. 8 332(c)(7)(B)(i)(1I);

(d) Issue an injunction or writ of mandamus compelling and ordering the BOA

to grant the Conditional Use, and all ancillary approvals and permits

14
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necessary for the construction of the proposed Wireless Facility at the

Hanson Location; and

(e Grant such other and further relief in favor of Plaintiff as may be just and

proper.

Dated: March 21, 2024

Respectfully submitted,
SIEGEL, BARNETT & SCHUTZ, L.L.P.

/s/ Reed Rasmussen

Reed Rasmussen

415 S. Main Street, Suite 400
Aberdeen, South Dakota 57402-0490
Telephone No. (605) 225-5420
Facsimile No. (605) 226-1911
Email:Rrasmussen@sbslaw.net

and

Ari J. Rosenthal, Esq. (pro hac vice pending)
Illinois Bar Number: 6188583

Ginsberg Jacobs, LLC

300 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2750

Chicago, IL 60606

Tel. 312-660-9611

Fax 312-660-9612
Arosenthal@ginsbergjacobs.com

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
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